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Letter of Transmittal 

 
Hon. Bill Marmion MLA 
Minister for Mines and Petroleum 
29th Floor, Allendale Square 
77 St George’s Terrace 
PERTH  WA  6000 
 
 
Dear Minister,  
 
I am pleased to submit the Annual Report of the Minerals Research Institute of Western 
Australia (MRIWA) for the period 1 February 2014 to 30 June 2014, for your information and 
presentation to Parliament. 
 
MRIWA commenced operation on 1 February 2014 consequent to the proclamation of the 
Minerals Research Institute of Western Australia Act 2013 on 7 January 2014. 
 
MRIWA's objective is to promote research for the development of the minerals industries in this 
State.  The Board is satisfied with MRIWA's performance in commencing the new Minerals 
Research Institute of Western Australia and achieving its objective. 
 
On behalf of the MRIWA Board, I acknowledge the valuable support given to the Institute during 
the reporting period by your office, by the Department of Mines and Petroleum and by the 
members of the MRIWA Advisory Committees. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dr Peter Lilly 
CHAIRMAN 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 
Date:     15th September, 2014  
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Overview  

Executive Summary  
 
The Minerals Research Institute of Western Australia commenced on 1 February 2014 after the 
Minerals Research Institute of Western Australia Bill 2013 received royal assent on 18 December 
2013. 

The Minerals Research Institute of Western Australia Act 2013 (the Act) establishes the Minerals 
Research Institute of Western Australia (MRIWA) as a statutory corporation to foster and promote 
minerals research for the benefit of Western Australia.  

The Act repealed the Minerals and Energy Research Act 1987 with the effect that MRIWA replaced 
the existing Minerals and Energy Research Institute of Western Australia (MERIWA). 

The abolition of MERIWA and its replacement by MRIWA was required to consolidate and 
strengthen Western Australia’s capacity to foster research to deliver on the identified knowledge 
and technology needs of the State’s minerals industry.   

Whilst the Minister has ultimate control over the operations of the Institute, the leadership and 
management of the Institute are vested in the MRIWA Board.  

During the reporting period (February to June 2014) the Institute achieved a number of important 
objectives: 

• Established the governance structure envisaged in the Act. The Board, an Advisory Committee 
and four Theme Advisory Committees have been constituted to ensure effective oversight of 
the Institute’s operations and to provide comprehensive review of Applications for research 
grants. 

• Invested in a number of new research projects: $3.48 million was committed to 4 new research 
projects. Notable amongst these are: 
o $2.58 million grant to the Distal Footprint project (a $16 million 3-year initiative focused on 

the Capricorn region of Western Australia, being conducted with CSIRO, Curtin University 
and The University of Western Australia) which seeks  to develop a new way of discovering 
mineral deposits in the area; and 

o $0.6 million to the bid by the CRC for Optimisation of Resource Extraction for a second 
term (this comprised some $30 million of industry cash and requested $35 million in new 
Commonwealth funds).   

• Established a strong ‘pipeline’ of potential Applications for further MRIWA investments in 
research.  

• Commenced the new tertiary scholarships program. Over the first three years of MRIWA 
operation, this program will offer two Director’s PhD scholarships, with a total value of 
$240,000,  a further 8 PhD scholarships, total value of $560,000, and the Odwyn Jones Awards, 
which will annually provide up to 15 scholarships of $2,000 each, for students to progress their 
fourth year research project.  

• Improved the Institute’s administration systems, particularly financial and project 
management. 

• Commenced positioning the Institute as an influential member of the local and national 
innovation system for the minerals industry.  
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Operational Structure  

Functions 

The Minerals Research Institute of Western Australia is accountable to the Minister for Mines and 
Petroleum.  

The Institute administers only the Minerals Research Institute of Western Australia Act 2013. 

The Act encapsulates a number of key design principles for the new Institute, namely: 
• Funding for minerals research projects is on a competitive basis that directs State funds directly 

to specific research projects. 
• All investment decisions made by the Institute are guided by a comprehensive Research 

Priority Plan (a technology road-map of the needs of the Western Australian minerals industry). 
• State funds for research projects are directed to the requirements of the Western Australian 

minerals endowment, as identified in the Research Priority Plan.  
• State funds are not exclusively available to Western Australian research organizations: the 

intention is to ensure scarce funds are not wasted by replicating accessible research capability 
and capacity that resides elsewhere. 

• The Institute is to seek to optimise industry co-investment in its research activities through a 
leveraged grant model:  State investment is to be an incentive for industry investment.  

• The Institute adopts a portfolio approach to managing its research investments across research 
needs and through the research-development spectrum. 

• The Institute seeks to engage constructively with the challenges that face the many Small to 
Medium Enterprise businesses that participate in the State’s exploration and mining services 
sectors. 

• The Institute will adopt contemporary best practice principles of grant administration. 

The Act provides that MRIWA’s Board is its governing body, provides for appointment of its seven 
members by the Minister, and sets out requirements regarding its constitution and procedures. 

The functions granted to MRIWA in the Act are for the specific purpose of fostering and promoting 
minerals research for the benefit of the State. 

MRIWA’s functions are to: 
• Undertake, procure or manage minerals research projects; 
• Provide funding to individuals or corporations to enable them to undertake or participate in 

minerals research or other associated activities, or to engage other persons to do so; 
• Keep records about minerals research projects it undertakes, procures, manages or funds; 
• Work with other people, authorities and institutions about minerals research;  
• Maintain current knowledge of minerals research being undertaken;  
• Promote public awareness and interest in minerals research; 
• Foster academic activities related to minerals research; and 
• Advise the Minister about minerals research.   

The Act also has scope for regulations to be made to give additional functions to MRIWA. 

(Refer http://www.mriwa.wa.gov.au/about/wamri-act, Minerals Research Institute of Western 
Australia Act 2013, Division 2 for a full description of the MRIWA functions.) 
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Governance and Management Structure  

Organisation 

 
Figure 1 MRIWA Organisation Chart 

 
Board 

The Act provides for a seven-member Board for MRIWA.  Details of the inaugural members of the 
Board are provided below.  

 

 

Dr Peter Lilly has 35 years of varied experience in mine planning and design, project development, 
consulting engineering, applied research and academia. He is currently Director of the UWA 
Engineering Zone initiative and Adjunct Professor of Mining Engineering. 
He is a Past President and Director of The Australasian Institute of Mining & Metallurgy and 
currently a member of CSIRO’s Mineral Resources Sector Advisory Council, Chairman of the 
Inductees Selection Committee for the Australian Prospectors & Miners Hall of Fame, a Member 
of the Board of Trustees of the Australasian Institute of Mining & Metallurgy Education 
Endowment Fund and a Member of the Advisory Board for the Ian Wark Research Institute at the 
University of South Australia.  

 

 

Ms Michelle Andrews was appointed Deputy Director General Strategic Policy at the Department 
of Mines and Petroleum in July 2011.  
Michelle has more than 25 years’ experience in the State Government and has developed an 
extensive network of contacts with a track record of negotiating outcomes with industry and peak 
bodies, contributing to major project approvals, reforming approval processes, establishing the 
Office of the Environmental Protection and providing policy advice to several Environment 
Ministers.  

In her role, Michelle is focused on improving the way the department works with other 
government agencies, industry and community groups, and is leading fundamental changes in the 
department’s policy development and stakeholder engagement activities. 
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Ms Helen Cook has close to twenty years of Board experience across a range of sectors including 
energy and natural resources, arts and culture, training and finance. This has included high profile 
government agency boards where she has delivered independent governance guidance and 
established sound relationships with Ministers and understanding of government protocols and 
issues. 

Prior to joining the MRIWA Board, Helen was the National Partner in charge of KPMG’s Energy 
and Natural Resources Group. This role has required a deep understanding of the key 
opportunities and challenges faced by the mining and energy sector across Australia across all 
commodities, markets and up and down the supply chain. 

Helen’s other current board positions are: Deputy Chair, Fremantle Port; Non-Executive Director 
RAC Holdings Pty Ltd, RAC Finance Ltd; UWA Mining Energy and Natural Resources Law Advisory 
Board; Major Performing Arts Panel, Australia Council; Non-Executive Director, Chamber of Arts & 
Culture WA; and Joint Chairman, FutureNow – Creative and Leisure Industries Training Council. 

 

 

Mr Stedman Ellis has experience at senior level in a wide variety of policy, government and 
advocacy roles related to the mining and petroleum industries. He currently holds the position of 
Chief Operating Officer Western Region for APPEA – the peak industry association for Australia’s 
oil and gas exploration and production industry.  He previously held senior executive roles for WA 
Government agencies dealing with the resources sector and with BHP Billiton both in Australia 
and overseas. Stedman is a member of the governing council of the Central Institute of 
Technology. 

 

 

 

Mr Phil Lockyer’s initial tertiary qualifications were in Metallurgy, Mining Engineering and Mine 
Surveying. Subsequently, Mr Lockyer has completed studies in Business Management and 
Mineral Economics and holds a First Class Mine Managers Certificate. 

Mr Lockyer has a wealth of experience in senior operations leadership roles in the gold and nickel 
industry in Western Australia. In recent years Mr Lockyer has provided management and strategic 
planning services to a range of gold and base metals companies in Australia. Concurrently, Mr 
Lockyer has contributed extensively to the minerals industry by serving on numerous industry 
committees such as the WA Chamber of Mines and Energy, Occupational Health and Safety 
Committee and the Board of Examiners, WA Mines Regulations Act. Mr Lockyer continues as a 
non-executive director for a number of mining companies. 

 

 

Mr James McClements co-founded Resource Capital Funds in 1998 and oversees all aspects of 
the Fund. RCF currently manages U$2.8 billion in investments and has raised US$2.04 billion for 
its sixth fund.  RCF has provided financial support to 123 mining companies involving projects 
located in 42 countries and relating to 29 different commodities. 

Prior to launching RCF, Mr McClements was a natural resources sector banker with N.M. 
Rothschild in Australia and USA.  He is an honours graduate in Economics from UWA.  Mr 
McClements has served on 10 portfolio company Boards and is current Chairman of Global 
Advanced Metals Pty Ltd, the world’s leading tantalum producer. 
  

 

 

Dr Andrew Shook has held a wide variety of different positions in the mining and processing 
industries over the past 25 years, with experience in copper smelting, iron and steel, rare earths 
and titanium. 

Mr Shook also brings with him technical and research development, plant production analysis and 
operational improvements, all done on an international scale. Formerly Chief Technology and 
Information Management Officer with BHP Billiton Uranium, he is currently General Manager 
Human Systems Integration in Rio Tinto’s Technology and Innovation group. 
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Advisory Committees 

The Act (section 60) enables the Board of MRIWA to appoint any advisory committee it requires to 
advise it in relation to its functions, and to appoint the members and determine the functions of 
such a committee.   

Advisory committees are subject to the reasonable directions of MRIWA and are able to determine 
their own procedures.  The only statutory procedural requirement is that an advisory committee is 
required to keep minutes of its meetings and to provide MRIWA with a copy. 

The MRIWA Board is required to consider advice provided by an advisory committee but is not 
required to act on the advice, or to delay action pending its receipt. 

To ensure that Applications for research Grants, in particular, are subject to appropriate 
consideration (given the breadth of the science and technology that the Institute’s remit covers) the 
Board has appointed four Theme Advisory Committees (refer Figure 1) to bring discipline-specific 
expertise to the consideration of Applications for research grants.  The advice of the Theme Advisory 
Committees is provided to the Advisory Committee, which assesses each Application from a wider 
perspective. 

Appointment of committee members is on merit, not affiliation. 

Performance Management Framework  

Objective 
The objective for the Minerals Research Institute of Western Australian is to stimulate minerals 
research that enables industry to continue to invest in, and operate, globally competitive minerals 
exploration, mining, processing and export enterprises in Western Australia, and in doing so ensure 
that royalties paid to the State are optimized in terms of quantum and duration so that industry will 
continue to provide a range of economic and social benefits to the State well into the future.  

Key Performance Indicators 
The performance of the Institute will be measured over the longer-term by the economic benefit 
derived by Western Australia from the Institute’s activities and, ultimately, the impact these have on 
optimising the minerals royalties paid to the State. 

The specific key performance indicators for the new Institute have not, at the time of writing, been 
approved by Treasury and are not required for this report.  

Relation to State Science Policy 
From a fiscal perspective, the State Government investment in minerals research is part of the 
strategy to ensure that the State‘s mining operations are competitive with operations in lower cost 
jurisdictions, nationally and internationally.  The State co-investment in minerals research 
contributes to securing the significant revenues generated for the State by the minerals industry.  

The MRIWA represents a strategic model for minerals research in Western Australia.  It provides an 
efficiency gain for the State with research for the minerals industry being better managed, 
coordinated and strategically targeted than would otherwise be the case. 

Research Priority Plan 
Under the Act (Division 4), the Institute is required to have a Research Priority Plan (RPP) that 
identifies and prioritises the medium- to long-term knowledge and technology needs of the State’s 
minerals industry. The first edition of the RPP was completed in 2013. The Act requires that the 
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Institute must have regard to its Research Priority Plan, as revised from time to time, when 
performing its functions. The timing for a review of the RPP is at the discretion of the MRIWA Board. 

The current RPP provides for five Themes to guide MRIWA’s investments in research: these are 
illustrated below.  

 
Figure 2 Themes of the Research Priority Plan 

 

To provide greater clarity for stakeholders, Themes 1, 2 and 3 are further defined by a number of 
sub-Themes. 

Theme Sub-Themes 

1 Find More Resources 1.1 Mapping of the depth and character of cover progressing 
from shallow to deeper cover.  

1.2   Distal footprints research.  
1.3 Development and deployment of tools that provide 

improved understanding of the sub-regolith geology in 
Western Australia.  

1.4 Advanced analysis and correlation of existing geological and 
geophysical datasets. 

2 Expand the Mining 
Envelope 

2.1 Deep extraction systems. 
2.2 Engineering in highly stressed and complex rock masses.  
2.3 Productive and safe deep in-mine environments. 

3 Increase Recoverable 
Value 

3.1 Modelling and simulation of processing circuits. 
3.2 Accelerated technology development frameworks. 

4  Improve productivity No sub-themes defined. 

5 Develop new products and 
markets 

No sub-themes defined 

Table 1 MRIWA Research Themes and sub-Themes 
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The broad relationship between Themes 1 - Find More Resources, Theme 2 - Expand the Mining 
Envelope, and Theme 3 - Increase Recoverable Value, is illustrated schematically in Figure 3. The 
Research Priority Plan guides MRIWA to contribute to: 

• Positioning Western Australia for more effective exploration in the vast areas of the State 
covered by weathered material that ‘blinds’ current exploration technologies;  

• Extending the reach of ‘conventional’ mining practice and technology, both open-pit and 
underground; and 

• Developing the science and technology necessary to exploit mineralisation at great depth. 

 

Figure 3 Schematic of the relationship between MRIWA’s Research Themes and the WA geology 
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Agency Performance  

Chair’s Report 
 

It’s been a busy time for MRIWA during the last year.  
 
From the Chair’s perspective, the most important things that needed to be done were to attract and 
appoint an excellent Board and CEO and to have the new Institute operating fully and effectively 
immediately it formally commenced on 1st February 2014. 
 
I’m delighted to inform you that these objectives have been achieved.  
 
The Board of the Institute is one that has assumed its responsibilities with enthusiasm and 
commitment. It contains a rich diversity of skills and experience that includes the leadership and 
management of government agencies, private sector finance, audit and risk, industry associations, 
minerals research, and minerals sector projects and operations, as well as extensive experience on 
other boards in both the profit and not-for-profit sectors. 
 
We also have a first class Advisory Committee which provides essential, frank and fearless advice to 
the Board on matters of research project investment and priority. 
 
The CEO of the Institute, who commenced about 18 months ago as CEO of the Minerals and Energy 
Research Institute of Western Australia (MERIWA), has transformed the way the Institute engages 
with our three key stakeholder groups: State Government, Industry and the Research Community.  
 
During the past year the new legislation for MRIWA has been smoothly introduced and adopted, the 
Research Priority Plan has become an underpinning strategic document for the Institute’s thinking 
and activities, a more broadly-defined strategy for the next 3 to 10 years has emerged and the 
financial and administrative elements of the Institute have been thoroughly modernised. 
 
And while all this has been going on, MRIWA’s investment in minerals research has continued apace: 
in the five months since commencement on 1st February 2014 the Board has invested $3.48 million 
in four new research projects. The nature and scale of these investments has moved MRIWA onto 
the national stage in minerals research. 
 
MRIWA is now positioned to be a much stronger contributor to the strategic direction of minerals 
research and development for the betterment of the people of Western Australia. 
 
In this, MRIWAs first, annual report I wish to thank a number of people on behalf of the Board and 
management of the Institute. 
 
The past Board members of MERIWA over many years have been a highly committed group of 
people who created the sense of confidence and governance that was required to underpin the 
expansion of the investment by the State Government and industry to form MRIWA. If MERIWA had 
not been run and governed as well as it was, then the new Institute would have been stillborn. 
 
Professor Odwyn Jones served MERIWA for decades as Chair of the Minerals Research Advisory 
Committee. His contribution has been recognised both by the Minister and by the MRIWA Board by 
naming in his honour the MRIWA scholarships for fourth year students engaged in minerals 
research: the Odwyn Jones Awards. 
 



                                                                                                                         
 

13 

The Department of Mines and Petroleum, under the leadership of Mr Richard Sellers, has provided, 
and continues to provide, unstinting support for MRIWA. 
 
The Honourable Norman Moore, former Minister for Mines and Petroleum, provided the vision and 
drive to expand the role of the State Government in pursuing innovation in the WA minerals sector. 
 
And our current Minister, The Honourable Bill Marmion, has provided and continues to provide 
ongoing enthusiastic support for the Institute. This support is manifested in the high levels of morale 
that exist throughout the Institute’s Board, management and staff. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dr Peter Lilly 
 
Chair 
Board of Directors 
 
Date        15th September, 2014 
  



                                                                                                                         
 

14 

Operations Report  
 

This is the first Annual Report for the Minerals Research Institute of Western Australia. The Institute 
commenced on 1 February 2014, after the Minerals Research Institute of Western Australia Bill 2013 
received royal assent on 18 December 2013. 
 
The work during 2013/14 (noting that MRIWA operated in an ‘interim’ mode during the transition 
from MERIWA) focused on establishing the governance structure, marketing the new Institute in 
both Western Australia and nationally, establishing a strong flow of Applications for research grants 
within the remit established by the Research Priority Plan, and enhancing organisational capability to 
deliver to the requirements of the new Act and the increased funds allocated to the new Institute. 
 
These objectives have been achieved. 
 
The new Board was appointed by State Cabinet on 28 January 2014. 
 
The Interim MRIWA Board approved establishing the Advisory Committee and the Theme Advisory 
Committees, and the inaugural appointees, on 20 January 2014. It was imperative that these 
Committees were established promptly so that there was no delay in the process for considering 
Applications for research grants. 
 
The Hon Bill Marmion, Minister for Mines and Petroleum; Housing, formally launched the new 
Minerals Research Institute of Western Australia at a function, generously hosted by the Western 
Australian Chamber of Minerals and Energy, on 1 May 2014.  
 

 
 

Figure 4 Official Launch of MRIWA on 1st May 2014 

Left to Right: Dr Peter Lilly (Chair, MRIWA); The Hon Bill Marmion, Minister for Mines and Petroleum; 
Housing; Mr Reg Howard-Smith (Chief Executive, The Chamber of Minerals and Energy of Western 

Australia); Mr Mark Woffenden (CEO, MRIWA) 
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It is pleasing to report that in the initial five months of operation since commencement of MRIWA 
the Board has approved $3.48 million of grants for minerals research projects. (It is noted that this 
refers to investments approved by the Board during the reporting period, not to investments for 
which legally binding contracts were completed during the reporting period, as is required for 
reporting in the Financial Statements.) The investments approved by the Board are summarised in 
Table 2, below. 

Project 
Number 

Project Title RPP 

Theme

MRIWA 

($) 

Co-investors  

($) 

Total project 
($) 

M432 Validation & Standardisation of 
Sequential Leaching Tests to Better 
Predict the Impact of Mining on Ground 
& Surface Water Quality 

4 148,856 240,000 388,856

M436 Distal Footprints of Giant Ore Systems: 
Capricorn WA Case Study 

1 2,580,000 7,400,000 9,980,000

M437 Bayer Precipitation and Alumina Quality 3 150,000 450,000 600,000
M441 CRC Optimisation of Resource Extraction 

II (See Note) 
2 600,000 63,600,000(1) 64,200,000(1)

Table 2 Summary of MRIWA research project investments in the reporting period. 
Note 1: the CRC ORE II investment is as a partner in the bid to the Federal CRC Program. The amounts shown for co-

investors and total are as shown in the bid submitted. The actual amounts are subject to the decision of the CRC Program. 

 
During 2013/14 the total value of research projects administered (comprising projects completed 
and projects in progress) was $11.67 million, including an MRIWA investment of $2.42 million, for an 
average financial leverage of 4.8:1.   
 
It is also pleasing to report that the ‘pipeline’ of opportunities for future Applications is strong and is 
notable for the spread across the Research Priority Plan Themes, the growing inter-state 
participation and the larger scale of projects - both financially and with regard to the collaborations 
of researchers and end-users.   
 
MRIWA was in a sound position financially at the end of the reporting period. 

Item $ 000’s 
Accumulated funds opening balance at 1st February 2014  2,042 
Plus funds received and sponsorship committed (1 Feb to 30 June) 4,449 
Less funds expended and committed (1 Feb to 30 June) 1,489 
Accumulated funds as at 30th June 2014 5,002 
MRIWA total value of research commenced (1 Feb to 30 June) 3,480 
  
Industry sponsorship as % total project value (2013/14) 76 

Table 3 Summary of MRIWA’s financial results for the reporting period for minerals research 

Further points of note for 2013/14 are: 
• The administration cost was $1.0 million. 
• The total value of MRIWA scholarships awarded was $16,000. 

 
The full financial statements for MRIWA for the reporting period are provided at page 31.   
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In addition to the work to provide and manage research grants, MRIWA has progressed initiatives in 
its other functions, during the reporting period. In summary: 

• Keep records about minerals research projects it undertakes, procures, manages or funds; 
during the reporting period the Institute has continued developing the digital records 
management system designed to enhance administration efficiency and security of records. 
The new Recordkeeping Plan (section 21 of the State Records Act 2000) requires a new 
government organization to submit its draft Recordkeeping Plan (Plan) within six months after 
its creation) was substantially advanced.  

• Work with other people, authorities and institutions about minerals research. The Institute has 
adopted a strong ‘outward-facing’ approach to enhancing its networks and associations. 
Notable amongst these has been laying the foundations for much more effective links with 
inter-State research entities with strong capability relevant to minerals research.  

• Maintain current knowledge of minerals research being undertaken. This has been enhanced 
through wider networks, both with institutions and a greater variety of academic disciplines. 

• Promote public awareness and interest in minerals research. The MRIWA website has been 
completely refreshed and is now a contemporary and active point of communication. 

• Foster academic activities related to minerals research. In addition to the strong investment in 
research projects, the Institute has initiated a tertiary scholarships program with a total value 
of approximately $1 million over the three years 2013/14 to 2015/16.  

• Advise the Minister about minerals research.  The Institute has briefed the Minister as 
appropriate. 
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The new Institute has made a strong start: summary statistics are provided in Table 4. 

 Factors 1 February to 
30 June 2014 

Projects  
Applications received 8 
Projects approved 4 
Projects in progress 16 (1) 
Projects completed 4 
  
Technology Transfer  
Reports finalised 7 
  
 ($’000) 
Funds Received (excluding Industry Sponsorship)   
Budget appropriation - Consolidated Revenue   Fund 3,503 
Budget appropriation - Exploration Incentive Scheme 88 
Interest 61 
  
Total Funds Received 3,652 
Less administration costs (excl. depreciation) 361 
  
Funds available to support research 3,291 

  
MRIWA Grants approved during period  
For research projects 3,480 
For scholarships 16 
Total grants 3,496 
  
Industry Sponsorship for approved new projects 8,090(2) 
Note 1: Projects in progress includes those approved by the Board (Conditions of Grant may not be finalised) to 
approval of the final report by the MRIWA Chair. 
Note 2: This value excludes any industry investment associated with Project M441 (CRC ORE II) as the final amounts 
will not be known until the bid to the CRC Program is approved in late 2014. 

Table 4 Summary of MRIWA results for the reporting period 
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Research  
Advisory Committee Chair’s Report  
 
The Advisory Committee has met four times since the commencement of operations under the new 
MRIWA Act and the corresponding Advisory Committee remit.  It quickly settled into an effective 
and efficient mode of operation in conjunction with the Board and MRIWA staff.  The Committee 
brings together a wide range of strategic expertise in order to assess proposals presented to it and 
to subsequently make informed recommendations to the Board, paying attention to the MRIWA 
research priorities and risk profile.  In assessing research proposals the Committee draws upon 
discipline specific advice provided by experts who constitute the Theme Sub-committees.  These 
Sub-committees, which are aligned with the MRIWA strategic research themes, carry out initial 
assessment of proposals and interpret assessor and referee reports.  The Chairs of the Sub-
committees are members of the Advisory Committee, providing a direct communication path from 
the Sub-committee to the main Advisory Committee. 
 
A very valuable aspect of the operation of the Advisory Committee and its Theme Sub-committees is 
a mechanism of working with applicants to refine their proposal, where necessary.  This applies 
where the Committee determines that the subject area of the proposal is closely aligned with 
MRIWA’s strategic priorities, and the research team has a good track record, but where the proposal 
needs refining or restructuring before it can be forwarded to the Board.  The Committee and MRIWA 
staff provide advice to the applicants, assist with connection to potential sponsors, and recommend 
possible changes to scope, budget or scheduling of the project in order to maximise the potential 
outcomes and minimise potential risks. 
 
The Committee is very conscious of real and perceived conflicts of interest.  In its first meeting it 
established guidelines for identifying and dealing with such conflicts, agreed by all members.  This 
process ensures that actual conflicts of interest are noted and appropriate action taken, and 
minimises the potential for perceived conflicts of interests to arise from an external perspective.  
 
This is an exciting time for MRIWA, with its growing portfolio of projects and a strong focus on 
strategic research for the benefit of WA.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Prof Mark Bush 
Chair  
MRIWA Advisory Committee 
 
Date:   15th September, 2014 
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Research Project Investments 
Investments in four research projects were approved by the Board during the reporting period.  The 
research topics covered leaching tests to predict the impact of mining on water quality, a major 
geological study of the Capricorn, the influence of precipitation conditions on the quality of smelting 
grade alumina, and an extension of an existing Co-operative Research Centre. 

Details of each of these investments are provided below. 

M432 - Validation & Standardisation of Sequential Leaching Tests to Better Predict the Impact of 
Mining on Ground & Surface Water Quality 

There are strong indications that current chemical and mineralogical methodologies used to 
characterise waste rocks, and the long-term impact of mining on ground and surface water quality, 
are either “unfit for purpose” or, in the case of long-term kinetic leaching studies, take too long to 
complete and unduly delay the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) if the completion of such 
studies were mandatory.  

Accelerated sequential leaching methodologies, which typically involve the leaching of waste rocks 
with a sequence of increasingly aggressive solvents, have been used to characterise municipal 
wastes, soil, sediments and mineral processing wastes and more recently waste rocks associated 
with the mining of base metals. These can be used to predict the likely order of species mobilisation 
and extent of extraction of metal ions and metalloids (metal oxyanions) and their potential impact 
on ground and surface water quality.  

The key advantage of these methodologies is that they are rapid, taking only weeks to complete 
compared with longer term kinetic studies which can last for several years, and can be used to 
identify both the likely order of metal extraction through time and the potential metal;/rock type 
associations that may impact on ground and surface water quality.  

To achieve this goal sequential leaching methodologies will be validated and assessed against longer 
term kinetic leaching studies which will be conducted in parallel using a range of representative rock 
types supplied by the industry sponsors. 

Drs Neil Rothnie and Silvia Black lead the research team at the ChemCentre (WA). Sponsorship for 
this study has been committed by two companies ($240,000), with MRIWA contributing $148,856 
for a total project value of $388,856 for this 2-year project. 

The project contributes to MRIWA’s strategic positioning by virtue of: 
• The project’s potential contribution to improving productivity in the broader minerals industry. 
• Having two major iron ore mining companies as partners. 
• The research being led by ChemCentre, a WA government entity and there being a number of 

WA government agencies associated with the project: viz, Department of Environmental 
Regulation, Office of the Environment Protection Authority and the Department of Mines and 
Petroleum. 

 
M436 - Distal Footprints of Giant Ore Systems: Capricorn WA case study  

Australia is an old continent with much of its remaining mineral wealth masked by a thick cover of 
weathered rock and sediments that pose a formidable challenge for future mineral exploration.  21st 
Century exploration requires a new collaborative approach, underpinned by innovative technologies; 
to open up new frontiers for mineral exploration and empower the private sector to explore 
competitively. Giant ore systems, with their roots deep in the Earth's crust and upper mantle, are 
the manifestation of physical and thermochemical processes associated with localized sites of 
crustal-scale fluid flux and deformation, driven by regional-scale tectonic activity.   
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The key to the discovery of new Australian resources is the ability to detect and recognize the very 
distal footprints of these Giant Ore Systems under cover. The project aims to develop an 
understanding of the large and small scale controls on distal footprints formation and develop 
toolkits to identify such footprints. The program of research will focus on the covered terrain of the 
Capricorn region of Western Australia and will utilize a lithosphere-scale mineral systems approach 
to establish the fundamentals of distal footprint development within a crustal scale rock mass. By so 
doing this program will address a fundamental limitation in current exploration methodologies that 
can be applied in green-fields exploration across Western Australia. 

The planned program of MRIWA-funded research will build on existing investment by SIEF, industry 
and the WA’s research institutions to provide an exceptional value proposition that significantly 
extends the SIEF scope of works and addresses fundamental knowledge gaps that the SIEF 
investment alone could not fill.   

Greenfields exploration in Western Australia is directly hampered by the weathered cover that 
blankets the ancient continent to hide the underlying geology and its resource endowment. The 
technical challenge of exploring in such deeply weathered and covered regions has not been 
addressed, and yet exploration success in these areas is critical to the WA economy into the future 
through replenishment and indeed growth in the resource pipeline of new mines to provide royalty 
flows directly to government. Industry needs to be supported with targeted minerals research that 
will provide practical approaches to deal with this cover, to find more resources and to hold WA in 
such a globally competitive position for resource related investment. The research project proposed 
seeks to directly address the transported overburden and thick regolith as an exploration challenge, 
to define its character and exploration sampling potential and to see through it to define the larger 
scale mineral systems that may include major structures that have acted as flow paths for potential 
mineralizing fluids. A distal footprints toolkit will be developed that comprises a workflow to detect 
the very far-field signatures of mineral systems and their resources and provide new detection 
technologies for deep geological sensing, footprint detection and cover characterization to assist in 
the planning of exploration campaigns in covered terrains to best remove the impediment of cover 
as a barrier to discovering new resources across the Capricorn region of Western Australia and for 
other covered terrains in WA. 

Dr Rob Hough (CSIRO) leads the research team which includes extensive contributions from Curtin 
University and UWA researchers. The total value of the project is $16,120,000 which includes 
contributions from SIEF and industry with MRIWA contributing $2,580,000 for this 3-year project. 

The project contributes to MRIWA’s strategic positioning by virtue of: 
• Positioning the WA government in leading-edge research highly relevant to WA’s economy and 

science policy. 
• Being a co-investment with Federal entities (SIEF and CSIRO), another WA State agency 

(Geological Survey of Western Australia), WA Universities (UWA and Curtin University) and 
industry (notably smaller companies). 

• Being linked to a national exploration initiative –‘UNCOVER’. 
• Being a ‘signature’ project to define the transition from MERIWA to MRIWA. 
 

M437 - Bayer Precipitation & Alumina Quality  

The precipitation of aluminium hydroxide (alumina hydrate) in the Bayer Process plays a central role 
in the production of smelting grade alumina, crucially influencing the process yield, productivity, and 
product quality. Consistent quality of refined alumina is one of the critical parameters required for 
the economic and environmentally sustainable operation of aluminium smelters. Industrial 
experience suggests that the alumina quality is closely linked to the operating conditions applied in 
the gibbsite (hydrate) precipitation stage. 
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The AMIRA P1152 “Bayer Precipitation and Alumina Quality” project has been established to 
quantitatively investigate fundamental mechanisms linking the precipitation conditions and alumina 
quality. The new understanding will facilitate improvements in the Bayer process leading to 
significantly improved consistency of produced smelter grade alumina. The new collaborative 
project will provide a forum for discussions of gibbsite precipitation fundamentals and their impact 
on the quality of alumina. The work program will focus on quantifying the impact of a high shear 
environment, as may be applied in precipitation circuits, on the strength of hydrate and alumina. 
This program involves conducting a series of tests using gibbsite seed crystals with a range of 
different morphologies and applying well defined shearing conditions in caustic-aluminate slurries. 
By carefully analysing changes in the crystal size distribution (CSD), before and after slurry passes 
through the high shear equipment, the potential impact of centrifugal pumps and other high 
shearing equipment will be accurately quantified. 

The key deliverables will be: 
• Accurate quantification and prediction of the effect of shearing on hydrate particle size 

distribution for different seed crystals exhibiting a range of crystal morphologies; 
• Significantly improved understanding of the impact of slurry shearing on hydrate and alumina 

strength under different precipitation operating conditions; 
• Improved ability to predict the impact of shearing on hydrate and alumina strength under a 

range of precipitation conditions for a range of different seed crystal morphologies; 
• Recommendations with respect to the potential role of slurry shearing in controlling hydrate 

and alumina strength under Bayer precipitation conditions. 

Dr Iztok Livk at CSIRO leads the research team. Sponsorship for this study has been committed by 
three companies (via AMIRA International) ($450,000) with MRIWA contributing $150,000 for a total 
project value of $600,000 for this 2½-year project. 

The project contributes to MRIWA’s strategic positioning by virtue of being the only current MRIWA 
project that applies to the alumina industry, where Western Australia produces more than 50% of 
Australia’s alumina via the Bayer Process, representing approximately 10% of the world’s alumina 
production.  

M441 – CRC ORE II 

The CRC Optimisation of Resource Extraction (CRC ORE) has been in operation since 2010 and has 
delivered significant value for the industry over the past 4 years particularly through the 
development of Grade Engineering methodologies and associated value seeking and process 
integration tools including the Integrated Extraction Simulator (IES). These approaches and enabling 
technologies have the potential to significantly transform the economics of lower-grade ore deposits 
through separation and rejection of low-value material prior to energy and cost-intensive mineral 
processing. Based on CRC ORE‟s current concept studies (27 site applications globally), the Grade 
Engineering® approach can deliver potential benefits in the order of $500 million to $1 billion for 
NPV of feasibility projects, and operational improvements of several hundreds of millions of dollars 
for existing mines. 

CRC ORE is seeking to build on this success with a proposed further six year funding term under the 
Australian Government’s Cooperative Research Centre Program. The theme of CRC ORE II will be 
“Transforming Mining into an Advanced Manufacturing Industry”, with a focus on developing and 
embedding innovative manufacturing business systems in traditional mining operations. CRC ORE 
II‟s research program will adopt a uniquely holistic, systems-based approach to delivering 
productivity improvements across the mining value chain. In addition, the CRC‟s current focus on 
hard rock mining will be expanded to include bulk iron ore operations. Iron ore represents 60% of 
Australia’s mineral export value and brings a new set of challenges and opportunities to CRC ORE II.  
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The research proposed to be undertaken by the CRC ORE II aligns directly with the MRIWA Research 
Priority Plan, especially with Theme 3 - Increase recoverable value (3.1 Modelling and simulation of 
processing circuits; and, 3.2 Accelerated technology development frameworks) and Theme 4 - 
Improve productivity. 

Prof. Alan Bye, CEO of CRC ORE, leads the research team which includes extensive contributions 
from a range of universities and research providers, mining companies and suppliers to the mining 
industry. The total value of the CRC bid is $64,200,000 with industry contributing $28,600,000 and 
MRIWA contributing $600,000 for this 6-year project. 

The project contributes to MRIWA’s strategic positioning by virtue of: 
• Alignment with the WA government objectives in science: focus on minerals, promoting WA 

science, better engagement with Commonwealth funding programs, and greater engagement 
with the private sector in research. 

• An opportunity to give considerable national, and potentially international, exposure to the 
WA government investment in minerals research. 

• An opportunity for growing the mining engineering technical services (METS) sector in WA. 

Research Projects in Progress  
The MRIWA portfolio of research projects active at the end of the reporting period is summarised in 
Table 5 below. The portfolio of research projects in which MRIWA is partner has a total cash value of 
$20.0 million, of which MRIWA has invested $4.8 million, providing a financial leverage of 4.2:1. 

No. Project Title Applicants Institute Term
(yrs) 

RPP 
(Theme) 

MRIWA ($) Total 
($) 

M410 High Grade Au Deposits: Processes 
to Prediction 

Dr John Walshe CSIRO 3 1 300,000 977,000

M411 Geochemical Greenfields 
Exploration in Regolith Dominated 
Terrane: The Yilgarn Margin-
Albany-Fraser Belt Implication for 
Minerals System Prospectivity 

Dr Rob Hough CSIRO 3 1 150,000 499,091

M412 A Study of Shale Gas 
Geomechanics in the Perth and 
Canning Basins 

Prof Vamegh 
Rasouli 

Curtin 3 n/a* 169,082 619,082

M413 Hydrothermal footprints of 
magmatic nickel sulfide deposits 

Dr S Barnes
Dr M Fiorentini 

UWA 3 1 124,945 384,945

M414 Improved Hydrogeochemical 
Exploration in the Northwest 
Yilgarn - Adding Value to 
Underexplored Areas 

Dr David Gray CSIRO 2 1 91,900 301,676

M415 Mine waste rock dump design 
using mixed integer programming 
(MIP) 

Dr E Topal
Dr D Williams 

WASM 3 2 45,599 180,599

M417 Dynamic testing of surface 
support systems 

Prof. E Villaescusa
Dr A Thompson 

WASM 3 2 120,000 1,260,000

M419 Advancing rockburst risk 
mitigation techniques 

Prof Y Potvin
Dr J Wesseloo 

ACG 3 2 150,000 1,573,415

M424 Multiscale dynamics of 
hydrothermal mineral systems 

Prof A Ord
Prof B Hobbs 

UWA 3 1 210,000 630,000

M426 
 

Exploration targeting for BIF-
hosted iron deposits in the Pilbara 
craton, WA 

Prof P Duuring
Prof S Hageman 
 

UWA
 

2
 

1 142,990 616,990
 

M430 Integrated Tailings Management Prof A Fourie UWA 2 4 120,000 351,000
  



                                                                                                                         
 

23 

No. Project Title Applicants Institute Term
(yrs) 

RPP 
(Theme) 

MRIWA ($) Total 
($) 

M431 Ground Support Systems 
Optimisation 

Prof Y Potvin ACG 3.5 2 240,000 1,500,000

M432 
 

Validation & Standardisation of 
Sequential Leaching Tests to 
Better Predict the Impact of 
Mining on Ground & Surface 
Water Quality 

Dr N Rothnie
Dr S Black 
 

Chem
Centre 

2 4 148,856 388,856

M433 Targeting Channel Iron Deposits 
Formation in the Pilbara using a 
Forward Landscape Evolution & 
Clastic Sedimentation Approach 

Dr E Ramanaidou
 

CSIRO
 

1
 

1 55,500 144,000
 

M436 Distal Footprints of Giant Ore 
Systems: Capricorn WA case study 

Dr R Hough CSIRO 3 1 2,580,000 9,980,000

M437 Bayer Precipitation & Alumina 
Quality 

Dr I Livk CSIRO 2.5 3 120,000 600,000

*Project approved by MERIWA, does not accord with MRIWA research priority plan 

Table 5 MRIWA research project portfolio at 30 June 2014. 

Research Reports Finalised  
A summary of each of the research project reports finalised during the reporting period is provided 
below. 
 
M396 Establishing a Chronostratigraphic Framework for Devonian Canning Basin Reef Complex 

Report No. 302 

Grantee:  University of WA 
Applicant:  Assoc. Prof. E Tohver 
Grant Amount:  $440,000 
Duration:  3 years 
Commenced:  December 2009 
Sponsors:   Three industry sponsors 
 
This project in the Devonian reef complex of the Canning Basin, Western Australia focussed on a 
broad investigation of the depositional history of a carbonate platform using paleomagnetic, stable 
isotope geochemistry (inorganic and organic), sedimentology, and biostratigraphy. This work was 
conducted by researchers at the University of Western Australia and Curtin University, in close 
coordination with workers from Chevron Australia, Chevron ETC, the Geological Survey of Western 
Australia, ARC Energy, and investigators from the University of Washington, USA, and Caltech, USA. 
 
M399 Susceptibility to Phytophthora cinnamomi and Sensitivity to Phosphate in Native Australian 
Plants: Why are they Linked? 

Report No. 303 

Grantee:  University of WA 
Applicant:  Prof. H Lambers 
Grant Amount:  $700,000 
Duration:  5 years 
Commenced:  July 2008 
Sponsors:   Four industry sponsors 

Three major outcomes resulted from the research undertaken: 
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• A sensitive fluorometric assay for the quantification of phosphite was developed. As phosphite 
is a widely used fungicide to protect plants from pathogenic oomycetes, the assay provides a 
cost-effective and easy-to-use method to monitor the fate of phosphite following application. 

• Phosphite induces a range of physiological and developmental responses in plants by 
disturbing the homeostasis of the macronutrient phosphate. Because of its close structural 
resemblance to phosphate, phosphite impairs the sensing, membrane transport and 
subcellular compartmentation of phosphate. In this study the acclimation of Arabidopsis 
thaliana plants to sustained phosphite supply in the growth media was investigated and 
compared to plants growing under varying phosphate supplies.  

• Phosphite is metabolically inert in plants and accumulates in the tissue as plants are unable to 
convert phosphite into a product which can be assimilated into metabolism. The impact of 
phosphite on plant metabolism was analysed by profiling the abundance of metabolites in 
phosphite-treated and control plants. Results reveal changes in metabolite levels indicative of a 
profound influence of phosphite on metabolic reactions.  

 
M410 High Grade Au Deposits:  Processes to Prediction 

Report No. 304 

Grantee:  CSIRO 
Applicant:  Dr J Walshe 
Grant Amount:  $977,000 
Duration:  3 years 
Commenced:  January 2011 
Sponsors:   Two industry sponsors 

The project focussed on understanding the processes that control high grade gold deposition and 
application to targeting in the brownfields environment. The three modules were organised around 
a series of site campaigns and off site studies coupled with an on-site embedded researcher. The 
modules focused on macro-scale 4D alteration and chemical gradient mapping, micro-scale gold 
characterization, transport and deposition and study of the very high grade Wattle Dam deposit.  
 
M411 Geochemical Greenfields Exploration in a Regolith-dominated Terrane: The Yilgarn Margin-
Albany-Fraser Belt: Implications for Mineral systems Prospectivity 

Report No. 305 

Grantee:  CSIRO 
Applicant:  Dr Ignacio Gonzalez-Alvarez 
Grant Amount:  $570,000 
Duration:  3 years 
Commenced:  December 2010 
Sponsors:   Seven industry sponsors 

The separation of transported from residual domains was achieved for the northeastern Albany 
Fraser Orogen by applying regolith models of similar landform types, such as has been done for the 
Yilgarn Craton. Regolith landforms can be distinguished in great detail using the multispectral 
remote sensing (ASTER) and hyperspectral drill core logging (HyLoggingTM) data. This enabled the 
researchers to not only distinguish transported from erosional regimes, but also to relate 
depositional material to its source rocks and to identify the type of bedrock, by characterising the 
mineralogy of its equivalent saprock.  
  
 

M412 A Study of Shale Gas Geomechanics in the Perth Basin 
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Report No. 307 

Grantee:  Curtin University 
Applicant:  Profs V Rasouli & R Rezaee 
Grant Amount:  $619,082 
Duration:  3 years 
Commenced:  April 2011 
Sponsors:   Three industry sponsors 

A number of shale intervals in the Northern Perth Basin (NPB) provide a significant new ‘shale gas’ 
potential. Investigations show that some of these shales are rich in organic material and have 
sufficient thermal maturity to generate gas. The purpose of this project was to examine the shale’s 
geomechanical properties, combine these with the existing extensive geological, geophysical and 
petrological database and input the controls into the construction of Rock Mechanical Models. These 
Models are used to investigate the physical response of the shales to well drilling and hydraulic 
fracturing operations. The science of these Models forms an integral part of the evolving engineering 
evaluation of drilling and well completion practices in the shale gas industry, and also in any similar 
operations involving deep drilling activities. The conclusions and recommendations from the study 
add significantly to the potential for extracting shale gas in the Northern Perth Basin. 
   
M414 Improved Hydrogeochemical Exploration in the Northwest Yilgarn - Adding Value to 
Underexplored Areas 

Report No. 306 

Grantee:  CSIRO 
Applicant:  Dr D Gray 
Grant Amount:  $278,300 
Duration:  3 years 
Commenced:  September 2011 
Sponsors:   Eighteen industry sponsors 

Earlier work by the researchers had developed hydrogeochemical indicators for lithology, 
hydrothermal alteration and prospectivity analysis at regional (4 – 10 km) sample spacings for the 
northern Yilgarn Craton. These methods were applied in the NW Yilgarn Craton, so as to develop a 
provisional view as to the mineral prospectivity of the area. This region has a much lower density of 
demonstrated mineral resources than the NE Yilgarn Craton, although the geology is similar. Overall, 
results for this study support previous research demonstrating the value of groundwater chemistry 
for defining lithological changes, hydrothermal alteration and mineralisation. 
 
M421 Bayer Liquor Analysis by Infra-Red (BLAIR) for Process Liquors 

Report No. 301 

Grantee:  Central Chemical Consulting (CCC) 
Applicant:  Dr V Patrick 
Grant Amount:  $29,000 
Duration:  6 months 
Commenced:  July 2012 
Sponsors:   An industry sponsor and CCC 

 
 
 
BLAIR (Bayer Liquor Analysis by Infra-Red) is a fast and convenient method of chemical analysis for 
Bayer liquors developed by Central Chemical Consulting (CCC). BLAIR is a spectroscopic based 
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technique which requires no titrations, liquor dilution or additional reagents. In this work, BLAIR 
measurements were recorded for process liquors supplied by the industry sponsor, and for synthetic 
Bayer liquors prepared at CCC. These results were compared with measurements conducted by the 
industry sponsor using its current routine methods. A good correlation was obtained between the 
two sets of results. The precision of the BLAIR analyses were approximately the same and in some 
cases higher than those from the currently used methods. This study showed that liquor analyses in 
the Bayer process, vitally important for process control, can be significantly improved by utilising this 
spectroscopic technique. 
 
The final report was subject to a one-year publication moratorium by the industry sponsor. 
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Scholarship Program  
MRIWA has established a new and more comprehensive Scholarship Program to succeed the scheme 
run successfully for many years by MERIWA. Four universities are partnering with MRIWA in this 
program: Curtin University, Edith Cowan University, Murdoch University and The University of 
Western Australia. 

The MRIWA Scholarship Program is intended to: 
• Make a significant contribution to the Institute’s objectives. 
• Attract applicants with exceptional academic capability. 
• Contribute to the long-term marketing of MRIWA, the participating universities and other 

participating research institutions. 
 
The MRIWA Scholarships and Awards Program comprises three elements: 

• The Directors’ PhD Scholarships: 2 scholarships available during 2014-2016 (inclusive), fields of 
research nominated by the Board. 

• The MRIWA PhD Scholarships: 8 scholarships available during 2014-2016 (inclusive), fields of 
research linked, where practical, to major research projects in which MRIWA is a partner. 

• The MRIWA Odwyn Jones Awards: 45 scholarships available during 2014-2016 (inclusive), for 
undergraduate students completing a final year project relevant to MRIWA’s objectives.  

The Directors’ PhD scholarships are funded in large part by the generous contribution by Directors of 
their Board sitting fees. The Board has decided that the priority fields for consideration are: ‘Mineral 
Data Analytics’, ‘In situ Leaching’ and ‘Scale up from Bench to Production’. 

The total value of the scholarship program is approximately $1 million over three years. 

Work on implementing all three elements of the scholarship program commenced during the 
reporting period. The Hon Bill Marmion, Minister for Mines and Petroleum; Housing, presented the 
inaugural Odwyn Jones Awards at a function attended by some 30 people, including some proud 
parents, on 16 June 2014. 

 
Figure 5 Odwyn Jones award recipients pictured with Mark Woffenden CEO of MRIWA, Professor 

Odwyn Jones & Minister Bill Marmion.  
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The inaugural recipients of the 2014 Odwyn Jones Awards were: 
• Jonathan Adams, researching the leaching of rare earth element minerals.  
• Edwyne Mutai, looking at the leaching of copper arsenic sulphide (Enargite). 
• Joshua Vinicombe, studying the effect of pH and electrolytes on the rheology of nickel laterite. 
• Justin Brent, studying the determination and modeling of the reaction kinetics of the aeration 

of reduced ilmenite (RI) across different operating parameters. 
• Aiden Green, considering the determination and comparison of the limit equilibrium and finite 

element method for slope design and stability assessment applied to the Wodgina open cut 
mine. 

• Holly Kiely, whose project is entitled La Mancha's drills - analysis of causes of inefficiency. 
• Shane Reynolds, seeking to understand basin structure and cover development through the 

development of 3D maps. 
• Kelsey Roberts, investigating the optimal stemming height for 229 mm charge holes on a 

standard production blast at the Rio Tinto Brockman 4 mine. 

Partnerships 
Company Partners 
The following list is of companies and organisations which provided financial sponsorship in the 
period for research projects in progress.  The Board of Directors thanks these groups for their 
sponsorship and support. 

 
Agnico-Eagle Mines Ltd 
Alcoa World Alumina Australia 
AngloGold Ashanti Australia Ltd 
Atlas Iron Ltd 
Barrick (Australia Pacific) Ltd 
BC Iron 
BHP Billiton Iron Ore 
BHP Billiton Nickel West 
BHP Billiton Olympic Dam 
BHP Billiton Worsley Alumina 
Codelco Chile, Division El Teniente 
CMTE Development Ltd (CRC Mining) 
Dywidag Systems International Pty Ltd 
Fero 
First Quantum Minerals (Australia) Pty Ltd 
Fortescue Metals Group 
Geobrugg Australia Pty Ltd 
Geological Survey of Western Australia 
Glencore Xstrata Copper - Kidd Creek Operations        
Canada 
 

Glencore Xstrata Nickel Australasia 
Glencore Xstrata Nickel Rim South Mine, 
Canada 
Glencore Xstrata Zinc 
Gold Fields Australia Pty Ltd 
Golder Associates 
Hecla Ltd 
Independence Group NL 
Jenmar 
Kalgoorlie Consolidated Gold Mines 
Kirkland Lake Gold Inc. 
LKAB Sweden 
Mincor Resources 
MMG (Minerals and Metals Group) 
Newcrest Mining Ltd 
Perilya Broken Hill Limited 
Rio Tinto Alcan 
Rio Tinto Iron Ore 
Silver Lake Resources 
Vale Canada 
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Research Partners 
The following list is of organisations which undertook research in the reporting period for projects in 
progress.  
 
Australian Centre for Geomechanics 
ChemCentre (WA)  
CSIRO 
Curtin University 
Curtin University (WA School of Mines) 
University of WA 

Department of Mines and Petroleum 
The already strong relationship between MERIWA and the Department of Mines and Petroleum has 
been further strengthened as the new Institute has developed momentum.  

MRIWA gratefully acknowledges the support provided by the Department, notably the substantial 
cash contribution to research activities in Theme 1, Find More Resources, access to senior staff, 
collaboration in scoping and financing research projects and assistance in many aspects of 
administration and compliance. 
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Significant Issues Impacting the Agency  
Attracting co-investments in minerals research at the level historically achieved by MERIWA and 
MRIWA will be a significant challenge for the foreseeable future.  

There is no doubt that the prevailing and ongoing difficult financial circumstances of the minerals 
industry are adversely affecting corporations investing in research. This challenge is magnified by the 
fact that MRIWA’s role to support research with longer term outcomes is potentially at odds with 
industry’s tendency to fund shorter-term research. 

A significant factor in establishing early-stage minerals research is the opportunity to leverage one 
party’s investments on those of other parties. The reduced funding of science by the Commonwealth 
Government in the 2014/15 budget has not only reduced the quantum of funds available but also 
reduced the scope for leveraging with others’ investments. 

Where governments are major stakeholders in a national innovation system, as is the case in 
Australia, planning and executing scientific research is considerably aided by predictability of 
governments’ policies and funding commitments over the medium-term.  Recent economic volatility 
at both the State and Federal levels in Australia is making it difficult for governments to provide such 
predictability. MRIWA will seek to contribute to, and work within, both the WA and Federal agendas.  

A potential counterpoint to these adverse influences on MRIWA’s activities is that as the minerals 
industry increasingly focuses on achieving high productivity from the massive infrastructure 
investments of recent years, developing and applying advances in science and technology is 
increasingly being recognised as crucial.  
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Disclosures and Legal Compliance  

Financial Statements 

Certification of Financial Statements 
 
Period 1 February 2014 to 30 June 2014 
 
The accompanying financial statements of the Minerals Research Institute of Western Australia have 
been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper 
accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial period 1 February 
2014 to 30 June 2014 and the financial position as at 30 June 2014.  
 
At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars 
included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

_____________________________                                     ____________________________ 

Dr P Lilly                                                                                     Ms H Cook 
Chairman of Accountable Authority                                     Member of Accountable Authority 
Date:  15 September 2014                                                     Date: 15 September 2014 

 

 

 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Ms K Ong                                                                                     
Acting Chief Finance Officer                                                        
Date: 15 September 2014 
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Opinion of the Auditor General 
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Opinion of the Auditor General 
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Opinion of the Auditor General 



 
 

35 
 

 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 

For the Period 1 February 2014 to 30 June 2014 
 

       2014
  Notes    $
COST OF SERVICES        
         
Expenses        
Research grants      1,216,027
Scholarships      16,000
Employee benefits expense  6    143,633
Institute Contractor fees      61,051
Board and committee fees and costs  7     40,426
Supplies and services  8     79,968
Other expenses  9   17,008
Accommodation expenses      18,375
Depreciation expense 14     346
Total expenses      1,592,834
         
Income        
Revenue        
Interest revenue      60,615
Other revenue      23,711
Revenue from Industry Sponsorship      858,474
Total revenue      942,800
        
Total income other than income from State 
Government      942,800
        
NET COST OF SERVICES      650,034
        
Income from State Government  10      
State Government Grant      3,591,138
Resources received free of charge      18,375
Total income from State Government      3,609,513
Surplus for the period      2,959,479
        
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE 
PERIOD      2,959,479

 
The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Financial Position 

As at 30 June 2014 
 

       2014
  Notes    $
ASSETS         
Current Assets         
Cash and cash equivalents  20    4,150,954
Restricted cash and cash equivalents  11     2,409,846
Receivables and other assets  12     156,705
Other Current Assets  13     47,796
Total Current Assets      6,765,301
         
Non-Current Assets        
Office equipment  14     2,074
Total Non-Current assets      2,074
TOTAL ASSETS      6,767,375
        
LIABILITIES       
Current Liabilities       
Payables  16     213,741
Provisions  17     33,661
Deferred revenue  18     1,517,054
Total Current Liabilities      1,764,456
        
Non-Current Liabilities       
Provisions  17     800
Total Non-Current Liabilities      800
Total Liabilities      1,765,256
Net Assets      5,002,119
        
EQUITY 19     
Accumulated surplus      5,002,119
Total Equity      5,002,119

 
The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 

For the Period 1 February 2014 to 30 June 2014 
 

                                                                                                    Note                        Accumulated Surplus
  $
Balance at 1 February 2014                                                        19 2,042,640
    
Surplus for the period 2,959,479
   
Balance at 30 June 2014                                                             5,002,119
 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Cash Flow 

For the Period 1 February 2014 to 30 June 2014 
 

       2014
  Notes    $
          
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT         
State Government Grant      3,591,138
Net cash provided by State Government      3,591,138
         
Utilised as follows:        
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES         
Payments         
Research Grant Payments      (1,073,770)
Employee benefits      (163,994)
Institute Contractor fees      (48,944)
Board and Advisory committee fees    (34,376)
Supplies and Services      (80,311)
GST payments on purchases      (120,476)
          
Receipts         
Receipts from Sponsors      981,879 
Interest received      26,523 
GST receipts on sales      40,854 
Net GST receipts from taxation authority      34,393 
Net cash used in operating activities  20    (438,222)
         
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES         
Purchase of non-current intangible assets       -
Net cash used in investing activities      -
          
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents      3,152,916
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
period      3,407,884
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE 
PERIOD  20    6,560,800
    

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 

For the Period 1 February 2014 to 30 June 2014 

Note 1.  Significant Accounting Policies 
First set of financial statements 

The Minerals Research Institute of Western Australia (“MRIWA”) was created on 1 February 2014 
under the Minerals Research Institute of Western Australia Act 2013 to replace the Minerals and 
Energy Research Institute of Western Australia that was abolished 31 January 2014. All the assets, 
rights and liabilities of the Institute as at 31 January 2014 were transferred to MRIWA. 

This is the Institute’s first set of financial statements for the period from 1 February 2014 to 30 June 
2014. 

General 

MRIWA’s financial statements for the period ended 30 June 2014 have been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards.  The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ includes 
Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB).  

MRIWA has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their 
operative dates. 

Early adoption of standards 

MRIWA cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 
1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements.  There has been 
no early adoption of Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended (but are 
not operative) by MRIWA for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2014. 
 
Note 2.  Summary of significant accounting policies 
(a) General statement 

MRIWA is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting 
Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s 
Instructions.  Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s Instructions to vary application, 
disclosure, format and wording.  

The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s Instructions impose legislative provisions that 
govern the preparation of financial statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting 
Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the AASB. 

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the 
reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the 
notes to the financial statements. 

(b) Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical 
cost convention.  

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been 
consistently applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated. 
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 

For the Period 1 February 2014 to 30 June 2014 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the 
nearest dollar. 

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements 
that have been made in the process of applying the Institute’s accounting policies resulting in the 
most significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the 
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have 
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year. 

(c) Reporting entity 

The reporting entity comprises of MRIWA and has no related bodies. 

(d) Income 

Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.  The 
following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised for the major 
business activities as follows: 

Rendering of services 

Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction. 

Interest 

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.  

Sponsorship Revenue 

Sponsorship from Industry is recognised as revenue by reference to the stage of completion of 
the transaction, i.e. when the Institute has fulfilled its obligations for research project grants. 

Deferred Revenue is recognised when the sponsorship funds are received or receivable and the 
Institute has not fulfilled its obligations under the terms of the sponsorship agreement. 

State Government Grant 

Revenue is recognised at fair value when MRIWA obtains control over the assets comprising the 
contributions, usually when cash is received. 

Sale of goods 

Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks 
and rewards of ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably.  

(e) Plant and equipment  

Capitalisation/expensing of assets 

Items of plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of 
utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of plant and equipment 
costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total). 
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 

For the Period 1 February 2014 to 30 June 2014 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost. For items of plant and equipment acquired at 
no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.  

Subsequent measurement  

After recognition as an asset, the historical cost model is used for the measurement of plant and 
equipment and stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Depreciation 

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their 
estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually.  
The expected useful life for plant and equipment is 3 to 7 years.  

f) Impairment of Assets 

Plant and equipment are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each reporting 
period.  Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated.  Where 
the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is 
written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised.  As MRIWA is a 
not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount 
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost. 

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is 
materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change 
in useful life.  Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated 
depreciation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic benefits 
and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs. 

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs 
to sell and the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset.  Surplus 
assets carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by 
reference to market-based evidence.  Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated 
replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is 
measured.  Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of impairment at the end of each 
reporting period.  

See also note 2(i) and note 12 ‘Receivables and other assets’ for impairment of receivables. 

(g) Financial instruments 

In addition to cash, MRIWA has two categories of financial instrument: 

 Receivables; and 

 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. 
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 

For the Period 1 February 2014 to 30 June 2014 

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes: 

 Financial Assets 

- Cash and cash equivalents; 

- Restricted cash and cash equivalents; and 

- Receivables. 

 Financial Liabilities 

- Payables. 

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates 
to the transaction cost or the face value.  Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. 

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value 
because there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the 
effect of discounting is not material. 

(h) Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents (and restricted cash and 
cash equivalents) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of 
three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject 
to insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 
(i) Receivables 
Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible 
amounts (i.e. impairment).  The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any 
receivables identified as uncollectible are written-off against the allowance account.  The allowance 
for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that MRIWA 
will not be able to collect the debts.  The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for 
settlement within 30 days.  See also note 2(g) ‘Financial Instruments’ and note 12 ‘Receivables and 
other assets’. 
 
(j) Payables and Accrued Expenses 

Payables are recognised when MRIWA becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a 
purchase of assets or services.  The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as they are generally 
settled within 30 days.  See also note 2(g) ‘Financial instruments’ and note 16 ‘Payables’. 
Accrued Employee Costs represent the amount due to employees but unpaid at the end of the 
financial year.  Accrued Employee Costs are settled within 30 days of the financial year end.  The 
Institute considers the carrying amount of accrued employee costs to be equivalent to its fair value.
 
(k) Research Grants 

Grants expense is recognised when the Institute becomes obliged to make payment to the grantee. 
The Institute becomes obliged to make payment when the grantee has met the conditions of the 
grant agreement, normally on a quarterly basis. 
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 

For the Period 1 February 2014 to 30 June 2014 

(l) Scholarships 

Scholarship expense represents the Institute’s obligation to fund approved scholarships.  

(m) Provision for leave  

All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employee service up to the end 
of the reporting period. There is no annual leave provision as this leave is settled within the 
reporting period. 

Annual leave 

The liability for annual leave that is expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid 
when the liability is settled. 

Annual leave that is not expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and 
salary levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as 
well as the experience of employee departures and periods of service.  The expected future 
payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future 
cash outflows. 

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as MRIWA does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. 

Long service leave 

The liability for long service leave that is expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of 
the reporting period is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid 
when the liability is settled.   

Long service leave that is not expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.   

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and 
salary levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as 
well as the experience of employee departures and periods of service.  The expected future 
payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future 
cash outflows. 

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as MRIWA does not 
have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end 
of the reporting period. Conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current 
liabilities because MRIWA has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the 
employee has completed the requisite years of service. 
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 

For the Period 1 February 2014 to 30 June 2014 

Superannuation 

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other fund providers administer 
public sector superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative 
requirements.  Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes for public sector employees 
vary according to commencement and implementation dates. 

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to 
new members since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump 
sum scheme closed to new members since 1995. 

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the 
Pension Scheme or the GSS became non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation 
Scheme (WSS).  Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members 
of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS).  From 30 March 2012, existing members of the WSS or GESBS 
and new employees have been able to choose their preferred superannuation fund provider.  
MRIWA makes contributions to GESB or other fund providers on behalf of employees in compliance 
with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992.  
Contributions to these accumulation schemes extinguish MRIWA’s liability for superannuation 
charges in respect of employees who are not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS. 

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government 
reporting.  However, it is a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent 
contributions (defined contributions) made by MRIWA to GESB extinguishes the agency’s 
obligations to the related superannuation liability. 

MRIWA has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS.  The liabilities for the unfunded 
Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who transferred 
from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer.  All other GSS obligations are funded by 
concurrent contributions made by the MRIWA to the GESB. 
The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped 
from the Treasurer for the employer’s share. 

(n) Superannuation expense 
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other funds administer public sector 
superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements.  
Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes for the Institute’s staff (employees and 
contractors) vary according to commencement and implementation dates. 
The Institute makes concurrent contributions to the GESB or other funds on behalf of Contract Staff 
in compliance with the Commonwealth Government's Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) 
Act 1992.  These contributions extinguish the liability for superannuation charges in respect of the 
WSS, GESBS or other superannuation funds. 

The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises employer 
contributions paid to the West State Superannuation (WSS) Scheme, the GESB Super Scheme 
(GESBS) and other superannuation funds. 
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 

For the Period 1 February 2014 to 30 June 2014 

(o) Resources received free of charge  

Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured are recognised 
as income at fair value.  Where the resource received represents a service that MRIWA would 
otherwise pay for, a corresponding expense is recognised.  Receipts of assets are recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Position. Resources received from other State Government agencies are 
separately disclosed under Income from State Government in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. 

Note 3. Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the 
application of accounting policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements.  MRIWA evaluates these judgements regularly.  

Note 4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

MRIWA makes key estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  These estimates and 
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year. 

Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates 

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard 

MRIWA has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 February 2014 that impacted on MRIWA: 

AASB 119 Employee Benefits 

This Standard supersedes AASB 119 (October 2010).  As MRIWA does not operate a defined benefit 
plan, the impact of the change is limited to measuring annual leave as a long-term employee 
benefit.  The resultant discounting of the annual leave benefit has an immaterial impact. 

AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards 

This Standard establishes a differential financial reporting framework consisting of two tiers of 
reporting requirements for preparing general purpose financial statements.  There is no financial 
impact. 

This Standard makes amendments to many Australian Accounting Standards, including 
Interpretations, to introduce reduced disclosure requirements for certain types of entities.  There 
is no financial impact. 

AASB 2011-10 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119 (September 2011) [AASB 1, 
8, 101, 124, 134, 1049 & 2011-8 and Int 14] 

This Standard makes amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as 
a result of issuing AASB 119 in September 2011.  There is no financial impact. 
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 

For the Period 1 February 2014 to 30 June 2014 

AASB 2012-5 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual Improvements 2009-11 Cycle 
[AASB 1, 101, 116, 132 & 134 and Int 2]. 

This standard makes amendments to the Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a 
consequence of the annual improvements process. There is no financial impact. 

AASB 2012-6 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Mandatory Effective Date of AASB 9 and 
Transition Disclosures [AASB 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 2011-7 & 2011-8]. 
 
This Standard amends the mandatory effective date of AASB 9 Financial Instruments to 1 January 
2015. Further amendments are also made to consequential amendments arising from AASB 9 that 
will now apply from 1 January 2015 and to consequential amendments arising out of the Standards 
that will still apply from 1 January 2013. There is no financial impact. 
 
Voluntary changes in Accounting Policy 

There have been no voluntary changes in accounting policy. 
 
Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative 

MRIWA cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 
1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements.  Consequently, 
MRIWA has not applied early any of the following Australian Accounting Standards that have been 
issued that may impact MRIWA.  Where applicable, MRIWA plans to apply these Australian 
Accounting Standards from their application date. 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments 

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments. 

The mandatory application date of this Standard was amended to 
1 January 2018 by AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards.  MRIWA has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2018

AASB 1031 Materiality 

This Standard supersedes AASB 1031 (February 2010), removing Australian 
guidance on materiality not available in IFRSs and refers to guidance on 
materiality in other Australian pronouncements.  There is no financial impact. 

1 Jan 2014

AASB 2009-11 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 [AASB 
1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 
& 1038 and Int 10 & 12] 

[modified by AASB 2010-7] 

1 Jan 2015
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 

For the Period 1 February 2014 to 30 June 2014 

AASB 2010-7 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 
(December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 
128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127] 

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in 
December 2010. 

AASB 2012-6 amended the mandatory application date of this Standard to 
1 January 2015.  MRIWA has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2015 

AASB 2012-3 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial 
Assets and Financial Liabilities [AASB 132] 

This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 to address 
inconsistencies identified in applying some of the offsetting criteria, including 
clarifying the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off” 
and that some gross settlement systems may be considered equivalent to net 
settlement.  There is no financial impact. 

1 Jan 2014 

AASB 2013-9 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards   Conceptual Framework, 
Materiality and Financial Instruments. 

This omnibus Standard makes amendments to other Standards arising from 
the deletion of references to AASB 1031 in other Standards for periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2014 (Part B), and, defers the application of 
AASB 9 to 1 January 2017 (Part C).  The application date of AASB 9 was 
subsequently deferred to 1 January 2018 by AASB 2014-1.  The Authority has 
not yet determined the application or the potential impact of AASB 9, 
otherwise there is no financial impact for Part B. 

1 Jan 2014

1 Jan 2017 

AASB 2013-9 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards   Conceptual Framework, 
Materiality and Financial Instruments. 

This omnibus Standard makes amendments to other Standards arising from 
the deletion of references to AASB 1031 in other Standards for periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2014 (Part B), and, defers the application of 
AASB 9 to 1 January 2017 (Part C).  The application date of AASB 9 was 
subsequently deferred to 1 January 2018 by AASB 2014-1.  The Authority has 
not yet determined the application or the potential impact of AASB 9, 
otherwise there is no financial impact for Part B. 

1 Jan 2014

1 Jan 2017 
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 

For the Period 1 February 2014 to 30 June 2014 

AASB 2014-1 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 

The Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential impact 
of the Standard. 

1 Jul 2014

1 Jan 2015

1 Jan 2016

1 Jan 2018 

Changes in accounting estimates 

There have been no changes in accounting estimates. 
1 Jul 2013

 
  



  

49 
 

 
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 

For the Period 1 February 2014 to 30 June 2014 
 

   2014 
   $ 
Note 6. Employee benefits expense   

Wages and salaries   132,347
Superannuation - defined contribution plans   11,286

   143,633
     
 Note 7. Board and committee fees and costs    

Board of Directors’ remuneration    34,687
Advisory Committee attendance fees    5,739

    40,426
     
 Note 8. Supplies and services    

Printing and Stationary    1,060
Advertising    398
Communications    8,472
Business Travel   402
Accounting services   46,400
Consultants   14,604
Legal services   278
Other   8,354

     79,968
       
 Note 9. Other expenses    

Audit fees    16,564
Bad debts expense   444

     17,008
       
 Note 10. Income from State Government    

State Government Grants    3,591,138
     3,591,138

        
Resources received free of charge as determined on the basis of the following estimates 
provided by agencies:  
Department of Mines and Petroleum    18,375
     18,375

     3,609,513
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 

For the Period 1 February 2014 to 30 June 2014 
 
      2014 

     $ 
Note 11. Restricted cash and cash equivalents     

Research grants    2,344,081
Director’s Scholarship   65,765

     2,409,846

Cash held in the account is to be used only for the purpose of providing grants for research 
and development of projects to grantees. 

 
 Note 12. Receivables and Other Assets     

Current       
Grants receivable - Sponsorship    63,983 
Allowance for impairment of receivables   - 
GST receivable    92,722 
     156,705 

There are no receivables individually determined as impaired at the end of the reporting 
period. 

See also note 2(i) ‘Receivables’, 2(d) ‘Sponsorship Revenue’, and note 26 ‘Financial 
Instruments’. 

      
Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables 

Balance at the start of period   - 
Doubtful doubt expense   444 
Amounts written off during the period   (444) 
Balance at the end of period   - 

 
Note 13. Other Current Assets    

Prepayments   7,120
Accrued Interest     40,676
   47,796

 
Note 14. Office Equipment   

Office Equipment   
At cost   5,530
Accumulated depreciation   (3,456)

   2,074
   

Total Office Equipment    2,074
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 

For the Period 1 February 2014 to 30 June 2014 
 

Office Equipment   2014 
   $ 

Carrying amount at start of period   2,420
Depreciation expense   (346)

Carrying amount at end of period   2,074
 

Note 15. Impairment of assets 

There were no indications of impairment to office equipment at 30 June 2014. MRIWA held no 
goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period. 

 
   2014 
   $ 
Note 16. Payables    

Current     
Accrued research grants   158,257 
Accrued general expenses   36,317 
Accrued salaries   19,167 

   213,741 
See also note 2(j) ‘Payables’, 2(k) ‘Research Grants’ and note 26 ‘Financial Instruments’. 
 

 
Note 17. Provisions   

Current      
Employee benefits provision      

Annual leave(a)    (3,179)
Long service leave   36,840

   33,661
    
Non - Current    

    Employee benefits provision    
Long service leave (b)   800

   800

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to 
defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting period.   
    
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period   (3,179)
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period   -

   (3,179)
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 

For the Period 1 February 2014 to 30 June 2014 
 

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional 
right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  
Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows: 

 
   2014 
   $ 
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period   -
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period   37,640

   37,640
   

 
 Note 18. Deferred revenue    

Deferred Revenue - Sponsorship    1,517,054
     1,517,054

 
Note 19. Equity       

The Government holds the equity interest in MRIWA on behalf of the community.  Equity 
represents the residual interest in the net assets of MRIWA.  

Accumulated surplus    
Balance at start of period    2,042,640 
Result for the period    2,959,479
Balance at end of period    5,002,119
Total Equity at end of period    5,002,119
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 

For the Period 1 February 2014 to 30 June 2014 
 

Note 20. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows       

Reconciliation of cash 
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to 
the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows: 
     2014
     $
Cash and cash equivalents    4,150,954
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (Note 11 ‘Restricted cash 
and cash equivalents’)    2,409,846
     6,560,800
       
Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) 
operating activities     
Net cost of services    (650,034)
       
Non-cash items:       
Depreciation and amortisation expense (note 14 ‘Property, Plant 
and Equipment’)    346 
Resources received free of charge (note 10 ‘Income from State 
Government’)    18,375 
Finance income   (51)
        
(Increase)/decrease in assets:       
Accrued Interest    (34,041)
Grants Receivable - Sponsorship    629,426
Change in GST in receivables/payables(b)    (52,652)
Net GST receipts /(payments)   45,229
        
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities       
Grants Payable - Research and Scholarship(a)    158,257
Employee Benefits   (20,361)
Deferred Revenue    (513,141)
Other liabilities    (19,575)
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities    (438,222)

 
(a) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable 

in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of 
the reconciling items. 

(b) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables. 
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For the Period 1 February 2014 to 30 June 2014 
 

Note 21. Commitments      

Other expenditure commitments       
     2014
     $
Within 1 year     611,499 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years     203,926 
Later than 5 years     -
     815,425

 
Note 22. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 
  

MRIWA has no contingent liabilities or contingent assets. 
  
Note 23. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period 
  

MRIWA has had no events occurring after the end of the reporting period. 
 

Note 24. Explanatory statement 

Treasurer’s Instruction 945 requires an explanation of the significant variations between the 
actual income and expenses for the financial period and the estimate for each class of income 
and expense identified in the annual estimates published in the State Government's budget 
papers.  
 
MRIWA was established on 1 February 2014 and took over the unexpired portion of the 2013–
14 budget appropriated by the State to the Institute. The budget was for a full year operation 
whereas the Institute’s actual outturn covered only five months. The comparison would not be 
meaningful. 

 
Note 25. Financial instruments 

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies 

Financial instruments held by MRIWA are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash 
equivalents, receivables, and payables. MRIWA has limited exposure to financial risks.  MRIWA’s 
overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks identified below. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of MRIWA’s receivables defaulting on their 
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to MRIWA.   

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class 
of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any 
allowance for impairment as shown in the table at note 25(c) ‘Financial instrument disclosures’ 
and note 12 ‘Receivables and other assets’. 
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MRIWA trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties.  MRIWA has policies in place to 
ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit 
history.  In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that 
MRIWA’s exposure to bad debts is minimal.  At the end of the reporting period there were no 
significant concentrations of credit risk. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk arises when MRIWA is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  

MRIWA is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business. 

MRIWA has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of 
appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to 
meet its commitments. 

Market Risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as interest rates will affect MRIWA’s 
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  MRIWA does not trade in foreign 
currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks.  The Institute’s exposure to market 
risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to short-term investments comprised of term 
deposits and bank bills.  The risk is managed by the Institute through diversification and variation 
in maturity dates. 

 
(b) Categories of financial instruments 

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities 
at the end of the reporting period are as follows: 

 
     2014
     $

Financial Assets       
Cash and cash equivalents     4,150,954
Restricted cash and cash equivalents     2,409,846
Receivables(a)     63,983
Other current assets   40,796

       
Financial Liabilities      

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost    213,741
 

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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For the Period 1 February 2014 to 30 June 2014 
 

(c) Financial instrument disclosures 
 
Credit risk 

The following table discloses MRIWA’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets.  MRIWA’s maximum exposure to 
credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below.  The table discloses the ageing of financial assets 
that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based on information provided to senior management of MRIWA. 
 
MRIWA does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the financial assets it holds. 

      Past due but not impaired   

  Carrying Amount
Not past due and 

not impaired
Up to 1 
Month 

1-3 
months

3 months 
to 1 year 1-2 years

More 
than 5 
years

Impaired 
financial 

assets 
  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
                  
2014                 
Cash and cash equivalents 4,150,954 4,150,954 - - - - - - 
Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents 2,409,846 2,409,846 - - - - - - 
Receivables(a) 63,983 - 7,333 14,666 41,984 - - - 
Other Current assets 40,676 40,676 - - - - - - 
  6,665,459 6,601,476 7,333 14,666 41,984 - - - 
(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable)
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Liquidity Risk and interest rate exposure 

The following table details MRIWA’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities.  The 
maturity analysis section includes interest and principal cash flows.  The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each 
item. 

 

    
Interest rate 

exposure Maturity dates 

  

Weighted 
average 

effective
interest 

rate
Carrying 
amount

Variable 
interest 

rate

Non-
interest 
bearing 

Nominal 
Amount

Up to 1 
month 

1-3 
months

3 
months 

to 1 
year

1-5 
years

More 
than 5 
years 

  % $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
2014                     
Financial Assets                     
Cash and cash equivalents 2.828 4,150,954 4,150,954  - 4,150,954  -  -  -  -  - 
Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents 2.828 2,409,846 2,409,846  - 2,409,846  -  -  -  -  - 
Receivables(a)  63,983  - 63,983 63,983  -  -  -  -  - 
Other Current Assets 40,676  - 40,676 40,676 40,676  -  -  -  - 
   6,665,459 6,560,800 104,659 6,665,459 47,676 - - - - 
                      
Financial Liabilities                     
Payables 213,741  - 213,741 213,741 213,741  -  -  -  - 

   213,741  - 213,741 213,741 213,741 - - - - 
(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable) 
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For the Period 1 February 2014 to 30 June 2014 
 

Interest rate sensitivity analysis 

The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of MRIWA’s financial 
assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the surplus for the period and equity 
for a 1% change in interest rates.  It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant 
throughout the reporting period.  

 
   -100 basis points   +100 basis points 
 

  
Carrying 
amount Surplus Equity   Surplus Equity 

2014 $ $ $   $ $ 
Financial assets            

Cash and cash equivalents 4,150,954 (415,095) (415,095)   415,095 415,095 
Restricted Cash and cash 
equivalents 2,409,846 (240,985) (240,985)   240,985 240,985 
Total Increase/Decrease  (656,080) (656,080)   656,080 656,080 

              
 

Fair values 

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether 
they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable 
approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes. 

 
Note 26. Remuneration of board members and senior officers 

Remuneration of Board members  

The number of board members, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary 
benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are: 

        
     2014

$      
0 - 10,000    7
10,000 - 20,000    - 
      
     $
Base remuneration and superannuation   34,687
The total remuneration of board members are:    34,687

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by MRIWA in respect of 
members of MRIWA. 

No members of MRIWA are members of the Pension Scheme. 
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Remuneration of senior officers  

The number of senior officers, other than senior officers reported as members of the accountable 
authority, whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits 
for the financial year, fall within the following bands are: 
     2014 
$    
100,001 - 110,000   1 
    
     $ 
Base remuneration and superannuation   109,675 
Annual leave and long service leave accruals   (12,643) 
Other benefits   10,070 
The total remuneration of senior officers are:     107,102 

     
The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by MRIWA in respect of 
senior officers other than board members. 

 
Note 27. Remuneration of auditor 

Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect to the 
audit for the current financial year is as follows:       
     2014
     $
Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance 
indicators    14,000 

     14,000
 

Note 28. Supplementary financial information 

The Institute has no related or affiliated bodies. 

There were no losses through theft, defaults and other causes. 

No gifts of public property were provided by the Institute. 
 

Note 29. Schedule of income and expenses by service 

Treasurer's Instruction 1101(9) requires that statutory authorities provide segment information 
in the form of services. 

MRIWA has one sole activity (or service) which is to finance and coordinate minerals and energy 
research. 

No schedule is prepared as this information is reported in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. 
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Certification of Performance Indicators 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2014 
 
We hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and 
appropriate for assisting users to assess the Minerals Research Institute of Western Australia’s 
performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Minerals Research Institute of Western 
Australia for the financial year ended 30 June 2014. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

_____________________________                                     ____________________________ 

Dr P Lilly                                                                                     Ms H Cook 
Chairman of Accountable Authority                                     Member of Accountable Authority 
Date: 15 September 2014                                                       Date: 15 September 2014 
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Performance Indicators for the year ended 30 June 2014 

Minerals Research Program 
 
Outcome 
"Promote all aspects of minerals research" 

The key incentive provided by governments to 
encourage more research is to subsidise its cost.  
MRIWA’s policy is that the magnitude of the subsidy 
is nominally 35% of the cash cost, encouraging a 
higher level of participation from industry.   
 
The subsidy level must be such, however, to give 
MRIWA the authority to rigorously assess research 
programs and to establish “Conditions of Grant” that 
facilitate coordination and accountability, and ensure 
that final reports can be published and widely 
distributed.  The subsidy must be of a level to enable 
promotion of research on regulatory issues such as 
occupational health and safety, and mine site 
rehabilitation.  
 
In addition, research at PhD level is encouraged by 
the awarding of eight supplementary research 
scholarships this year. 
 
Effectiveness Indicator 
Research was promoted by subsidy to the extent of 
the funds available.  To maximise the effectiveness of 
this investment, sponsorship was maximised and the 
involvement of industry in each phase of the research 
was promoted to focus the scope of the study on the 
needs of industry and maximise technology transfer.  
By publishing reports, the research results were 
disseminated as widely as possible. 
 
The average level of industry sponsorship as a 
percentage of research value in 2013/2014 was 76% 
against a target of 65%.  The target was exceeded due 
to the attraction of a strong level of industry 
sponsorship.   
 

The effectiveness of postgraduate doctoral research 
scholarships in promoting research will be gauged by 
the success of students in ultimately achieving their 
PhDs and in presentations of technical papers and 
posters at Australian and international symposia. 
Eight scholarships were awarded in 2013/2014. 
 
Service 
"Finance and coordinate minerals research" 

Efficiency Indicator 
The indicator is a function of the number of projects 
in which MRIWA has participated during the 
reporting period and total administration costs for 
the year.   
This year the administration costs have increased to 
$1,004,011 from $443,926 in the previous year.  
 
This result is as anticipated with the transition from 
the MERIWA to the new Institute, which has an 
expanded remit and allocation to invest in research. 
 
There are three drivers for the ‘over budget’ result: 
• Increases in employee benefits. For example, the 

CEO is now full-time rather than part-time, an 
additional part-time Project Manager has been 
engaged, and financial management services have 
been increased commensurate with the increased 
appropriation to MRIWA.  

• MRIWA has increased the investments in individual 
projects. Previously, MERIWA policy set a 
maximum investment of $150,000 in an individual 
project. MRIWA is investing larger amounts in 
larger projects, for example $240,000 in project 
M431. 

• Much work was done during the reporting period 
to engage MRIWA with large projects which the 
Board has approved (e.g. $2.58 million for the 
M436 Distal Footprint and M440 CRC ORE II) which 
are not included in these KPIs because the 
contracts have not been signed by 30 June 2014. 

 
Effectiveness Indicator – Outcome 2013/2014 2012/2013 2011/2012 2010/2011 

Industry sponsorship achieved (%) 
    Target (%) 
Research value ($) 

76
65 

1,755,000 

74
- 

1,780,990 

85 
- 

4,935,105 

73
- 

2,431,570 
     
Efficiency Indicator – Service 2013/2014 2012/2013 2011/2012 2010/2011 

Cost per minerals research grant administered ($)
    Target ($) 

   59,059 
   11,000 

24,663 
- 

13,652 
- 

13,218 
- 
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Ministerial Directives  
There have been no Ministerial directives to MRIWA during the reporting period. 

Governance Disclosures  
To achieve its objective, MRIWA draws substantially on members of the minerals community 
contributing their experience and knowledge. This is particularly the case for the members of the 
Board, the Advisory Committee and Theme Advisory Committees.  
 
All members are aware of the matter of conflict of interest: committees and the Board have 
standard practices for managing potential and actual conflicts of interest.  
 
Part 4 – Administration, Subdivision 3 of the Minerals Research Institute Act 2013 sets out the 
provisions for disclosure of material personal interest. 

Board and Committee Remuneration  

Board of the Minerals Research Institute of Western Australia 

Name 
 

Position  Type of 
remuneration or 

fee  
 

Section of 
MRIWA 

Act 

Appointment 
Approved  

Period 
of 

Member
ship 

Gross 
remuneration ($)

(1 Feb to 30 June 
2014) 

Ms Michelle 
Jane 
ANDREWS 

Deputy 
Chair 

Annual / $0 Section 27 
(1) (c) 

28 January 
2014 

3 years 0 

Ms Helen 
COOK 

Member Annual / $11,405 Section 27 
(1) (a) 

28 January 
2014 

3 years 6,050 

Mr Stedman 
David ELLIS 

Member Annual / $11,405 Section 27 
(1) (d) 

28 January 
2014 

2 years 4,926 

Dr Peter 
Arthur LILLY 

Chair Annual / $22,691 Section 27 
(1) (b) 

28 January 
2014 

2 years 9,455 

Mr Clive Phillip 
LOCKYER 

Member Annual / $11,405 Section 27 
(1) (a) 

28 January 
2014 

2 years 4,752 

Mr James 
Timothy 
MCCLEMENTS 

Member Annual / $11,405 Section 27 
(1) (d) 

28 January 
2014 

3 years 4,752 

Mr Andrew 
Arthur SHOOK 

Member Annual / $11,405 Section 27 
(1) (b) 

28 January 
2014 

3 years 4,752
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Advisory Committee to the Minerals Research Institute of Western Australia 

Name 
 

Position Type of 
remuneration or 

fee  

Section of 
MRIWA 

Act 

Appointment 
Approved  

Period of 
Member-

ship 

Gross 
remuneration 

($)** 
(1 Feb to 30 June 

2014) 

Dr Christopher 
BAKER 

Member Attendance Section 60 
(1)  

20 January 
2014 

2 years 576 

Em Prof Mark 
BUSH 

Chair Attendance Section 60 
(1)  

20 January 
2014 

2.5 years 890 

Prof. John  
DELL 

Member Attendance Section 60 
(1)  

20 January 
2014 

2 years 384 

Dr Rob  
HOUGH 

Member Attendance Section 60 
(1)  

20 January 
2014 

2 years 0 

Ms Alison 
MORLEY 

Deputy 
Chair 

Attendance Section 60 
(1)  

20 January 
2014 

2 years 576 

Dr Bryan 
SMITH 

Member Attendance Section 60 
(1)  

20 January 
2014 

2 years 576 

Mr Ian 
SUCKLING 

Member Attendance Section 60 
(1)  

20 January 
2014 

2 years 0 

 ** Accrued at 30 June 2014 

Theme Advisory Committees 

Name 
 

Position  
(see Note)  

Type of 
remuneration 

or fee  

Section of 
MRIWA 

Act 

Appointment 
Approved  

Period of 
Member- 

ship 

Gross/actual 
remuneration 

($)** 
(1 Feb to 30 June 

2014) 

Prof Parisa 
BAHRI 

Member  
Theme 4 & 5  

Attendance Section 60 
(1) 

20 January 
2014 

28 February 
2015 

114 

Dr Christopher 
BAKER 

Chair  
Theme 3 

Attendance Section 60 
(1) 

20 January 
2014 

29 February 
2016 

642 

Mr Peter 
BEWICK 

Member 
Theme 1 

Attendance Section 60 
(1) 

20 January 
2014 

29 February 
2016 

456 

Dr James 
CLEVERLEY 

Member 
Theme 1 

Attendance Section 60 
(1) 

20 January 
2014 

29 February 
2016 

342 

Mr Gerard 
DANCKERT 

Member 
Theme 2 

Attendance Section 60 
(1) 

20 January 
2014 

29 February 
2016 

0 

Prof. John DELL Member  
Theme 4 & 5 

Attendance Section 60 
(1) 

20 January 
2014 

29 February 
2016 

0 

Dr James  
KYLE 

Member 
Theme 3 

Attendance Section 60 
(1) 

20 January 
2014 

29 February 
2016 

114 

Mr Chris DU 
PLESSIS 

Member 
Theme 3 

Attendance Section 60 
(1)  

20 January 
2014 

29 February 
2016 

114 
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Name 
 

Position  
(see Note)  

Type of 
remuneration 

or fee  

Section of 
MRIWA 

Act 

Appointment 
Approved  

Period of 
Member- 

ship 

Gross/actual 
remuneration 

($)** 
(1 Feb to 30 June 

2014) 

Dr Ivor 
ROBERTS 

Member 
Theme 1 

Attendance Section 60 
(1)  

20 January 
2014 

29 February 
2016 

456 

Dr Gamini 
SENANAYAKE 

Member 
Theme 3 

Attendance Section 60 
(1)  

20 January 
2014 

29 February 
2016 

456 

Dr Bryan SMITH Chair  
Theme 1 

Attendance Section 60 
(1)  

20 January 
2014 

29 February 
2016 

704 

Mr William 
STAUNTON 

Member 
Theme 3 

Attendance Section 60 
(1)  

20 January 
2014 

29 February 
2016 

404 

Mr Ian 
SUCKLING 

Chair  
Theme 2 

Attendance Section 60 
(1)  

20 January 
2014 

29 February 
2016 

0 

Dr Chris WARD Member  
Theme 4 & 5 

Attendance Section 60 
(1)  

20 January 
2014 

29 February 
2016 

0 

Prof. Kathleen 
WRIGHT 

Member  
Theme 4 & 5 

Attendance Section 60 
(1)  

20 January 
2014 

29 February 
2016 

0 

** Accrued at 30 June 2014 

Note. There are separate Theme Advisory Committees for Themes 1, 2 and 3 and a single Theme Advisory 
Committee for Themes 4 and 5. This structure is designed to match the expected work load and will be 
amended if necessary. 

Other Legal Requirements  
 
Expenditure on Advertising, Market Research, Polling and Direct Mail  
 
In accordance with s175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the MRIWA incurred the following expenditure 
in advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and media advertising:  
 
Total expenditure for the reporting period was $398.  
 

Expenditure was incurred in the 
following areas 

Total Expenditure Amount 

Advertising agencies  $398 State Law Publishing 
Quality Press business cards 
Directories Listings 

$212
$96
$90 

Market research organisations  Nil   
Polling organisations  Nil   
Direct mail organisations  Nil   

Media advertising organisations  Nil   
 
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan Outcomes  

The Institute is housed within the Department of Mines and Petroleum building, Mineral House, 100 
Plain Street, East Perth, which has a comprehensive and effective plan to ensure compliance with 
the Disability Services Act, 1993. 
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Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes  
During the reporting period there were no known breaches of public sector standards, the Code of 
Ethics or the Institute’s Code of Conduct and Ethics.  

The Code of Conduct and Ethics was revised during the transition period to commencement of the 
new Institute.  

Recordkeeping Plans  

In light of the commencement of the new Institute on 1st February 2014, the requirement for the 5-
year review of the MERIWA Recordkeeping Plan, which was due in 2014, was waived. The new 
Institute was required to submit an initial Recordkeeping Plan within 6 months of the date of 
commencement, in accordance with the requirements of the State Records Act 2000. Work 
progressed satisfactorily during the reporting period to achieve submission by this deadline. 

 Substantive Equality  
 
Due to the small size of the Institute, matters concerning women, family and domestic violence, 
equal employment opportunities, language, cultural diversity and youth were addressed on an 
individual basis, as required. 

Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management  
 
The Institute was housed within the Department of Mines and Petroleum building, Mineral House, 
100 Plain Street, East Perth and MRIWA adhered to the OSH and Injury Management Policies and 
Practices of the Department of Mines and Petroleum.  There were no fatalities or lost time injuries 
during the reporting period. 

Legislation Impacting on the Institute's Activities 

Freedom of Information 
 
There were no applications under the Freedom of Information Act during the year.  A copy of the 
Information Statement is available by contacting the Chief Executive Officer on (08) 6180 4343 or by 
writing to the Minerals Research Institute of Western Australia, 100 Plain Street, East Perth 6004. 

Disability Services Plan 
 
The Institute is housed within the Department of Mines and Petroleum building, Mineral House, 100 
Plain Street, East Perth, which has a comprehensive and effective plan to ensure compliance with 
the Disability Services Act, 1993. 

Customer Group Outcomes 
Due to the small size of the Institute, matters concerning women, family and domestic violence, 
equal employment opportunities, language, cultural diversity and youth were addressed on an 
individual basis, as required. 

Corruption Prevention 
 
The Board of MRIWA was satisfied that the processes and procedures followed by the Institute, its 
staff and committees were robust and effective in the requirement to eliminate the possibility of 
corruption. 


